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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

2001
Direct premiums written.......... ..., $1,152,407
Net premiums written.......c..iieieeneeeeeeennnnn $1,078,967
Earned PremMiUMS . @ . e e e e e eeneennnnnoeeeeeeeennnns $1,043,652
Net investment income...........iiiiiiieennnnnnnn 99,611
Premium finance and service fees................ 17,819
Amortization of excess of book value of
subsidiary interest over cost................. 3,389
Net realized investment gains (losses).......... (10, 633)
TOLAl FEVENUES e v v vttt ettt eeeee et e neeeeeeean $1,153,838
Earnings before income taxes and minority
o ol S = $ 115,425
TNCOME L AXE S e i it ittt ettt e ettt eesneeeeeeneeaeean 23,194
Net earnings before minority interest........... 92,231
Minority interest in net loss of subsidiary..... 863
Net arnNinNgS. .ttt e eeeneeeeeeeeennnnns $ 93,094
Comprehensive income. ........oiiiiiieeneeennnnns $ 93,655
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170,066
38,306

131,760
320
132,080
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948,149
911,993
871,830
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14,774
3,019

(16,378)
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16,667
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Net earnings per common share:

Cash dividends paid per share

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding:

Total investments at market value

and equity value
Total assets
Total liabilities
Minority interest
Total stockholders'
Total stockholders'

equity
equity per share

Certain statutory financial ratios
Loss and LAE ratio
Underwriting expense ratio

Combined ratio

Net premiums written to policyholders'

(1) The above figures are presented to provide

of, and fluctuations in,

measures of corporate performance.

THE COMMERCE GROUP,

To Our Stockholders:

In 2001,
the 26th consecutive year.

(unaudited) :

net realized gains and
exclude the after-tax impact of net realized investment gains

. $ 2.77 $ 3.87 $ 2.54
. $ 2.75 $ 3.87 $ 2.54
. $ 98,880 $ 109,631 $ 97,411
. $ 2.94 $ 3.21 $ 2.79
. $ 2.93 $ 3.21 $ 2.79
. $ 1.19 $ 1.15 $ 1.11

. 33,608,804
. 33,794,938

34,121,047
34,121,047

34,940,074
34,940,074

. $1,498,201
. $2,140,082
. $1,327,808

$1,472,562
$2,075,614
$1,292,665

$1,295,995
$1,878,019
$1,208,650

. - $ 1,068 $ 1,364
. $ 812,274 $ 781,881 $ 668,005
. $ 24.52 $ 23.16 $ 19.44
. 74.7% 71.7% 72.0
. 24.4 25.1 26.5
. 99.1% 96.8% 98.5
. 150.7% 152.6% 175.7

information to the reader due to the amount
(losses). The amounts noted, which
(losses), are important

INC.

March 23, 2002

your Company experienced satisfactory financial results for
From the very first day the funding of The

oe

oe

oe
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Commerce Insurance Company was accomplished (April 3, 1972) through
December 31, 2001, we have achieved underwriting profit of $293.4 million
on total premiums written of $10.0 billion. This underwriting profit
represents 2.9% of total premiums written.

In October 2001, the 2002 personal automobile insurance rate decision
was announced by the Massachusetts Insurance Commissioner. Despite the
industry's request for a 7.8% increase, 2002 rates are to remain unchanged
from 2001 rates. Although most companies, including yours, continued to
modify safe driver deviations in response to the 2002 rate decision, the
Massachusetts marketplace remains highly competitive. Throughout these
ongoing competitive times, your Company's share of the Massachusetts
personal automobile market has continued to grow, and at year-end, our
market share was 23.3% up from 22.3% in 2000.

In 2001, direct premiums written in Massachusetts and earned premiums
countrywide surpassed $1 billion for the first time in our history. Your
Company will continue to pursue the goals of growing and expanding
geographically beyond the borders of Massachusetts. In furtherance of this
goal, direct premiums written outside of Massachusetts now represents 12.4%
of our total business as compared to 11.3% in 2000.

Your Company has continued to grow and prosper. The Commerce
Insurance Company continues to be the largest writer of Massachusetts
private passenger automobile insurance, the second largest writer of
Massachusetts homeowners insurance, as well as the third largest writer of
Massachusetts commercial automobile insurance. The combined insurance
companies were also ranked as the 26th largest personal automobile
insurance group in the country by A.M. Best Co., based on the most recently
available direct premium written information. Additionally, I am very
pleased to report that your Company again received a group rating of A+
(Superior) from A.M. Best Co.

Net earnings, written premiums, earned premiums, investment income,
total assets, total stockholders' equity and total stockholders' equity per
share, as illustrated in the bar graph on the facing page, are all at new

highs. For those of you who are interested in the details, I draw your
attention to the pages in this report labeled "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations". Behind these

numbers are an extremely dedicated group of people: Our policyvholders
(represented by over 1,042,000 policies in force); Agents (1,236);
Employees (1,780); Officers (43); Commerce Group Directors (17); and, of
course, our Stockholders (over 5,000, including our Employee Stock
Ownership Plan Participants who now number 1,904).

Property-liability insurance remains a good business to be in and The
Commerce Group, Inc. will continue its efforts to be one of the most
profitable long-term players. Your Company's management continues to
believe that owners' interests are its primary constituency.

Our sincere thanks to those who have helped in this building process
especially our Agents, Employees, Officers and Board of Directors. This
diverse force of committed, ethical and hard working people will continue
to build on our past successes and look to the future with excitement and
opportunity. Their individual ingenuity, enthusiasm, dedication and
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professionalism will continue to serve our stockholders well.

Your comments or questions regarding this report, or The Commerce
Group, Inc. affairs in general, are solicited as always, at any time.

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board

Caring in everything we do.

The bar graph on page 3 illustrates the Company's annual total

stockholders' equity per share value and annual total stockholders' equity
per share value including cumulative cash dividends paid per share through
each December 31, year-end, over the most recent fifteen year period. The
X-axis lists the years beginning with 1987 through 2001. The Y-axis lists
the dollar values starting at $0.00 and increasing in one-dollar increments
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to $32.00. The graph depicts a total stockholders' equity per share value
in 1987 of $1.40, 1988 of $1.95, 1989 of $2.53, 1990 of $3.36, 1991 of
$4.80, 1992 of $7.42, 1993 of $10.09, 1994 of $10.88, 1995 of $14.96, 1996
of $16.28, 1997 of $18.11, 1998 of $19.72, 1999 of $19.44, 2000 of $23.16,
and 2001 of $24.52. The graph also depicts the total stockholders' equity
per share value adjusted to include cumulative dividends paid per share.
The total of these amount to the per share value in 1987 of $1.40, 1988 of
$1.95, 1989 of $2.53, 1990 of $3.36, 1991 of $4.80, 1992 of $7.42, 1993 of
$10.09, 1994 of $11.03, 1995 of $15.34, 1996 of $17.47, 1997 of $20.33,
1998 of $23.01, 1999 of $23.84, 2000 of $28.71, and 2001 of $31.26.

4
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)
General

The property and casualty insurance industry continues to remain
highly competitive and inherently volatile in nature. Property and
casualty insurance company results have traditionally been impacted by the
typical forces unique to the industry such as competi-tion, frequency and
severity of losses, the overall economy and the general regulatory
environment in those states in which the insurer operates. Additional
forces are impacting the industry in the form of deregulation, on-line
commerce, price competition, empowered customers and technological
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advancement. The terrorists' attacks of September 11 have had a
significant impact on the insurance industry. According to A.M. Best Co.
("A.M. Best"), "the unprecedented events of September 11 have forever

changed the way the insurance industry defines risk. Both property and
liability lines have been exposed to catastrophic risks that cannot be
priced using traditional actuarial methods". A.M. Best goes on to state,
"Against the backdrop of weak financial trends, this new risk environment
has accelerated the hardening of the U.S. property/casualty market".

Given this increased risk environment, A.M. Best "expects to see a renewed
flight to quality that will benefit financially strong insurers". The
financial losses due to this tragedy were significant to the insurance
industry, however, due to the limited exposure that the Company has
outside of Massachusetts, management believes the direct financial impact
to the Company will not be material. Additionally, price competition
remains quite heavy in many areas of the country, although it has improved
in 2001 among independent agency companies in Massachusetts. Beyond
Massachusetts, industry-underwriting results are expected to continue to
deteriorate in the near future which further emphasizes the importance of
competitive advantages gained by affinity marketing and efficient
operations. With these issues on the forefront, The Commerce Group, Inc.
("Company") continues to position itself to respond to the prevailing
forces and conditions in the market. The Company has utilized its strong
agency relationships, a low-cost structure, affinity group alliances and a
1999 joint-venture acquisition all in an effort to keep the Company
responsive in today's competitive environment.

The Company, incorporated in 1976, is a holding company for several
property and casualty insurers, which, through these insurance
subsidiaries, offers predominantly private passenger motor vehicle
insurance along with a broad range of other property and casualty
insurance products. These products are marketed to affinity groups,
individuals, families and businesses through the Company's strong
relationships with professional independent insurance agencies. The
Company writes insurance primarily in the State of Massachusetts through
The Commerce Insurance Company ("Commerce") and Citation Insurance Company
("Citation"), both wholly-owned subsidiaries of Commerce Holdings, Inc.
("CHI") .

Additionally, the Company writes insurance in the States of
California and Oregon through Commerce West Insurance Company ("Commerce
West"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce, located in Pleasanton,
California. The Company also writes insurance through American Commerce
Insurance Company ("American Commerce"), which it acquired in January
1999. Located in Columbus, Ohio, American Commerce is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of ACIC Holding Co., Inc., with policies in 26 states and
licenses in several others.

In November 1998, Commerce formed ACIC Holding Co., Inc., in a joint
venture with AAA Southern New England ("AAA SNE") and invested $90,800 to
fund the January 29, 1999 acquisi-tion of the Automobile Club Insurance
Company whose name was changed to American Commerce upon completion of the
acquisition. Commerce invested $90,000 in the form of preferred stock and
an additional $800 representing an 80% common stock ownership. AAA SNE
invested $200 representing a 20% common stock ownership. The terms of the
preferred stock call for Commerce to receive quarterly cash dividends at
the rate of 10% per annum from ACIC Holding Co., Inc. In the event cash
dividends cannot be paid, additional preferred stock will be issued.

Since the January 29, 1999 acquisition, ACIC Holding Co., Inc. and
American Commerce's results have been consolidated into the Company's
financial statements. Since 1995, Commerce has maintained an affinity
group marketing relationship with AAA Insurance Agency, Inc., a subsidiary
of AAA SNE. AAA Insurance Agency, Inc. has been a licensed insurance
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agent of Commerce since 1985.

5

The Company's business strategy remains focused on activities
primarily related to personal automobile insurance. The Company has been
the largest writer of personal property and casualty insurance in the
State of Massachusetts in terms of market share of direct premiums written
since 1990. The Company's share of the Massachusetts personal automobile
market increased to 23.3% in 2001, as exhibited in the table below,
exceeding our nearest competitor, which maintains a 10.8% market share.

Growth of Massachusetts Personal Automobile
Insured Vehicles

Commerce Year-End

Year Industry Commerce Market Share
2001 1.7% 6.1% 23.3%
2000 1.9% 6.5% 22.3%
1999 2.0% 0.6% 21.3%

As mentioned, the Company predominantly writes private passenger
automobile insurance. The following tables indicate that direct premiums
written for private passenger automobile, commercial automobile and
homeowners represented 85.2%, 5.2% and 8.0%, respectively, of the Company's
total direct premiums written in 2001, as compared to 86.9%, 4.0% and 7.7%,
re-spectively, in 2000. Total direct premiums written increased $80,758 or
7.5% in 2001 over 2000. The 2001 increase was primarily attributable to a
$32,742 or 4.0% increase in Massachusetts private passenger automobile
direct premiums written. This was the result of a 5.8% increase in written
exposures offset by a decrease of 1.9% in average premiums per exposure.
Private passenger premiums written for all other states increased $18,824
or 18.2%, primarily attributable to an increase in American Commerce
premiums of $7,319 or 9.4%, coupled with an increase of $11,505 or 44.5%
additional premiums from Commerce West.

Direct Premiums Written, Year Ended December 31, 2001

Massachusetts All Other States Total % of Total
Personal Automobile...... $ 859,922 $ 122,320 S 982,242 85.2%
Commercial Automobile.... 58,088 1,514 59,602 5.2
Homeowners. .......cuoeeeo.. 73,254 18,710 91,964 8.0
Other Lines......ovvuuo.. 17,885 714 18,599 1.6
Total....oovvnn.n $1,009,149 $ 143,258 $1,152,407 100.0%

Direct Premiums Written, Year Ended December 31, 2000

Massachusetts All Other States Total % of Total
Personal Automobile...... $ 827,180 $ 103,496 $ 930,676 86.9%
Commercial Automobile.... 43,243 104 43,347 4.0
Homeowners. .......ouoeeeo.. 65,662 16,498 82,160 7.7
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Other Lines.............. 14,860 606 15,466 1.4

Total........... $ 950,945 $ 120,704 $1,071, 649 100.0%

Massachusetts Automobile Business

In Massachusetts, private passenger automobile insurance is subject to
extensive regulation. Owners of registered automobiles are generally
required to maintain certain minimum automobile insurance coverages. With
very limited exceptions, automobile insurers are required by law to issue a
policy to any applicant seeking to obtain such coverages. Companies in
Massachusetts are also assigned agents, known as Exclusive Representative
Producers ("ERPs"), based primarily on market share, that have been unable
to obtain a voluntary contract with an insurance carrier. Marketing and
underwriting strategies for companies operating in Massachusetts are
limited by maximum premium rates and minimum agency commission levels for
personal automobile insurance, both of which are mandated by the
6

Massachusetts Commissioner of Insurance ("Commissioner"). 1In
Massachusetts, accident rates, bodily injury claims, and medical care costs
continue to be among the highest in the nation. According to the

Automobile Insurers Bureau of Massachusetts ("A.I.B."), Massachusetts "has
higher than average medical costs and liability claims involving
attorneys". According to the A.I.B., Massachusetts personal automobile

premium per policy, based on 1999 premium information, was 5th highest in
the nation.

During the three-year period from 1999 to 2001, average mandated
Massachusetts personal automobile insurance premium rates decreased an
average of 2.3% per year. The Commissioner approved no rate change in
personal automobile premiums for 2002, as compared to an average rate
decrease of 8.3% in 2001. Coinciding with the 2002 rate decision, the
Commissioner also approved no change in the commission rate agents receive
for selling private passenger automobile insurance from 12.3% in 2001.

State Mandated

Average Commerce Average Rate
Year Rate Change Change Per Exposure
2002 0.0% 5.0% (Estimated)
2001 (8.3%) (1.9%)
2000 0.7% 6.2%
1999 0.7% 9.1%

Although average mandated personal automobile premium rates decreased
8.3% in 2001, the Company's average rate decreased 1.9% per exposure. The
1.9% decrease for 2001 was primarily the result of the state mandated
average rate decrease offset by decreases in the Safe Driver Insurance Plan
("SDIP") deviations for Step 9 and Step 10 drivers, the two best driver
SDIP classifications in Massachusetts. The smaller Company decrease was
also due to the facts that the rate decision did not anticipate purchases
of new automobiles in the year to which the rate decision applied and,
secondly, the Company's mix of personal automobile business differs from
that of the industry.

The 1999 average rate decision was partially driven by corrections for
an industry error that had impacted prior year rate decisions. The
industry error resulted from a miscalculation of industry expense
allowances that had the effect of over-stating rates for 1991 through 1996.
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Mandated rates for 1997, 1998 and 1999 included an adjustment to recoup the
effects of this error from the industry. The adjustment included in the
rate decision to recoup the error was phased in during 1997, 1998 and 1999.
The earned premium impact of this, coupled with the impact of a previous
year imbalance in the SDIP, was approximately $14.0 million for 1999. The
earnings per share after-tax impact resulting from lower earned premiums
were estimated at $0.26 for 1999.

The Company's performance in its personal and commercial automobile
insurance lines is integrally tied to its participation in Commonwealth
Automobile Reinsurers ("C.A.R."), a state-mandated reinsurance mechanism,
which permits the Company and most other writers of automobile insurance in
Massachusetts to reinsure any automobile risk that the insurer perceives to
be under-priced at the premium level permitted by the Commissioner. All
companies writing automobile insurance in Massachusetts share in the
underwriting results of C.A.R. business for their respective product line
or lines. Since its inception, C.A.R. has annually generated multi-million
dollar underwriting losses in both its personal and commercial automobile
pools. A company's proportionate share of the C.A.R. personal or
commercial deficit (its participation ratio) is based upon its market share
of the auto-mobile risks for the particular pool, adjusted by a utilization
formula such that, in general, its participation ratio is
disproportionately and adversely affected if its relative use of C.A.R.
exceeds that of the industry, and favorably affected if its relative use of
C.A.R. 1is less than that of the industry. Automobile insurers attempt to
develop and implement underwriting strategies that will minimize their
relative share of the C.A.R. deficit while maintaining acceptable loss
ratios on risks not insured through C.A.R.

Significant changes in the utilization of the C.A.R. private passenger
pooling mechanism are not expected for 2002. Various C.A.R. participation
formula changes have been fully implemented since 1993 with only minor
changes since then. The Company's ERP strategy has been to voluntarily
retain more of the types of private passenger automobile business that are
factored as credits favorably impacting the utilization formula. These
credits primarily result from voluntarily writing business in under-priced
territories and for under-priced risks. As a result of increased voluntary
retention in excess of the industry,

7

the credits impacting the utilization formula have favorably affected the
Company's participation ratio. As indicated in the accompanying table,
this ratio is several percentage points below the Company's estimated 23.3%
share of the Massachusetts personal automobile market. The Company
continues to expect the marketplace to make minor annual adjustments to
find the optimum balance between voluntary and ceded writings.

Company Private Passenger Participation Ratio for C.A.R. versus Market Share

Company Participation Company
Year Ratio in C.A.R. Market Share
2001+ 16.8% 23.3%
2000 16.9% 22.3%
1999 16.5% 21.3%

*Estimated

10
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The percentage of commercial automobile premiums ceded to C.A.R. by
the industry was estimated by the Company to be 24% in 2001. The
percentage of commercial automobile business ceded to C.A.R. by the Company
was approximately 16.0%. C.A.R. depopulation over the last several years,
coupled with C.A.R. rate increases for ceded commercial business, have led
to a reduction in the size of the annual commercial automobile deficits.
The Company intends to continue to respond to the incentives and
disincentives provided by C.A.R. rules as deemed necessary and appropriate.

The Company provides a separate rating tier for preferred
Massachusetts commercial automobile business through Citation.
Approximately 17% of the Massachusetts commercial automobile premiums
produced by voluntary agents in 2001 were written by Citation. The Company
expects that this secondary rating tier will continue to assist the Company
in retaining its better commercial automobile accounts, while also further
increasing the percentage of commercial automobile business that can be
retained voluntarily by the Company in 2002 and beyond.

The Company has actively pursued affinity group marketing programs
since 1995. The primary purpose of affinity group marketing programs is to
provide participating groups with a convenient means of purchasing private
passenger automobile insurance through associations and employer groups.
Emphasis is placed on writing larger affinity groups, although accounts
with as few as 25 participants are considered. Affinity groups are
eligible for rate discounts, which must be filed annually with the Division
of Insurance. In general, the Company looks for affinity groups with
mature/stable membership, favorable driving records and below average
turnover ratios. Participants who leave the sponsoring group during the
term of the policy are allowed to maintain the policy until expiration. At
expiration, a regular Commerce policy may be issued through the agency at
the insured's option.

Since the latter part of 1995, Commerce has been a leader in affinity
group marketing through agreements with the four American Automobile
Association Clubs of Massachusetts ("AAA clubs") offering discounts on
private passenger automobile insurance to the clubs' members who reside in
Massachusetts. A 6% discount was approved for policies effective January
1, 2002, which is the same as the discount for 2001. Membership in these
clubs is estimated to represent approximately one-third of the
Massachusetts motoring public, and has been the primary reason for a 62.6%
increase in the number of personal automobile exposures
written by Commerce since year-end 1995 (the AAA affinity group program
incepted in October of 1995). In 2001, total direct premiums written
attributable to the AAA group business
were $545,496 or 47.3% of the Company's total direct premiums written
(63.4% of the Company's total Massachusetts personal automobile premium),
an increase of 1.8% over 2000. Total exposures attributable to the AAA
clubs group business were 581,455 or 63.3% of total Massachusetts personal
automobile exposures in 2001, as compared to 559,696 or 64.5% in 2000. Of
the total Massachusetts automobile exposures written through the AAA
affinity group program by the Company, approximately 13.0% were written
through insurance agencies owned by the AAA clubs (8.7% of total

Massachusetts automobile exposures). The remaining 87.0% of the AAA group
program was written through the Company's network of independent agents
(91.3% of total Massachusetts automobile exposures). For additional

details, refer to the table found on page 12 entitled "AAA Affinity Group
Discount and SDIP Deviations".
8

11
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Massachusetts law allows two years to reach the required group
penetration level of 35%. Commerce has continued to maintain AAA member
participation in excess of 35% through December 31, 2001, when it was
estimated at approximately 40%. The two-year penetration requirement was
waived by the Massachusetts Legislature for 2000, 2001 and 2002. Waiving
the penetration requirements allows insurance companies to continue
offering group discounts without reaching the 35% level.

Commerce and the AAA clubs have agreed that Commerce shall be their
exclusive under-writer of Massachusetts personal automobile group programs.
A rolling three-year contract exists between Commerce and the AAA clubs
which renews automatically and may be terminated upon a minimum of three
years written notice to either party.

Agreements for the Transfer of Massachusetts Business from Other Companies
in 2002

The Company entered into an agreement on September 28, 2001, with

Berkshire Mutual Insurance Company ("Berkshire") for the transfer of
Massachusetts personal automobile business written by Berkshire to The
Commerce Insurance Company, effective January 1, 2002. Under terms of the

agreement, Commerce Insurance agreed to offer agency contracts to
independent agencies that represent Berkshire for personal automobile
insurance in Massachusetts. This will allow agents of Berkshire the
opportunity to offer Commerce automobile insurance policies to their
customers whose policies renew in 2002. Commerce will assume all of
Berkshire's obligations for future policy years beyond 2001 under the
Massachusetts residual market system, (commonly known as C.A.R.), including
assignment of Berkshire's involuntary agents. The Company received a cash
payment of $7,000 from Berkshire in early January, 2002.

The Company announced the formation of a marketing alliance with
Horace Mann Educators Corporation on October 18, 2001. Under the terms of
an agency agreement between Commerce and Horace Mann Service Corporation
("HMSC"), a licensed brokerage agency in the State of Massachusetts, HMSC
will provide its personal automobile customers with Commerce policies. New
personal automobile policies sold by HMSC will be insured with Commerce,
beginning no later than January 1, 2002. At the policy holders option,
Massachusetts personal auto policies currently written by HMSC will convert
to Commerce policies upon renewal in 2002.

Other States Business

Direct premiums written in states other than Massachusetts by Commerce
West and American Commerce, increased $22,554 or 18.7%. Roughly half of
this growth resulted from an increase of $11,505 or 44.5% in personal
automobile direct premiums written by Commerce West. The growth from
Commerce West is primarily attributable to non-standard automobile
business. Commerce West began writing in this segment of the market in
late 1999. Commerce West also began writing commercial automobile in late
2000, resulting in writings of $1,514 in 2001. American Commerce direct
premiums written increased $9,655 or 10.2%, primarily due to an increase in
personal automobile premiums of $7,319 or 9.4%. American Commerce also
experienced a 13.4% increase in homeowners business. American Commerce,
which writes business in 26 states, wrote greater than 90% of its business
in eleven states.

12
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Commerce West premiums and the eleven states with the highest percentages of premiums

written by American Commerce are shown in the following table:

% of Direct Premiums

Company State Written by State
2001 2000

Commerce West California............ 89.8% 99.1%
Oregon. vt eeeeeeennn 10.2% 0.9

Total...ooveenenn. 100.0% 100.0%

American Commerce Arizona.......eeeeeene.. 20.9% 21.5%
Rhode Island.......... 14.3% 10.8%

Ohio. ..., 12.6% 11.6%

Oregon.v.v.eeeeeeeeennn 10.5% 10.2%

Washington............ 8.0% 8.1%

Oklahoma.............. 7.7% 6.4%

Kentucky.............. 5.9% 5.8%

Indiana.....eeeeeeeenn. 4.6% 3.5%

West Virginia......... 2.5% 2.7%

Idaho. e v e e e i ienn. 2.5% 2.4%

Tennessee. ....ouuuenn.. 2.4% 2.2%

Other states.......... 8.1% 14.8%

Total...ooveenenn. 100.0% 100.0%

The decrease in other states for American Commerce is primarily
attributable to business in several states being moved to other insurance
companies affiliated with the ownership of the agencies representing that
business. These and some future moves for business in other states were
anticipated at the time the Company negotiated the acquisition of American
Commerce.

Insurance Ratios

Underwriting profit margins are reflected by the extent to which the

combined ratio is less than 100%. This ratio is considered the best simple
index of current underwriting performance of an insurer. During the five-

year period ended December 31, 2001, the property and casualty insurance
industry's combined ratio, as reported by A.M. Best and weighted to reflect
the Company's product mix ("weighted industry average"), has ranged from a
low of 100.1% in 1997 to a high of 109.7% in 2000 on a statutory accounting
principles basis. During this same period of time, the Company's combined
ratio has consistently remained below the weighted industry average,
ranging from a low of 96.5% in 1997 to a high of 99.1% in 2001. On an
average basis, the Company's combined ratio was 97.8% for the five-year
period ended December 31, 2001 compared to a weighted industry average of
105.1%.

13
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Year Ended December 31,

Company Statutory Ratios 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(unaudited)
Loss and LAE Ratio................. 74.7% 71.7% 72.0% 71.6% 71.4%
Underwriting Expense Ratio......... 24 .4 25.1 26.5 26.5 25.1
Combined Ratio............ ... ... 99.1% 96.8% 98.5% 98.1% 96.5%

Industry Combined Ratio
(all writers) (1) «v e i i i i i e eeeennn 108.9

oe

109.7

oe

104.4

oe

102.2

oe

100.1

oe

(1) Source: Best's Review Preview (2002), as reported by A.M. Best for all property and
casualty insurance companies and weighted to reflect the Company's product mix.
The 2001 industry information is estimated by A.M. Best.

10

Investment Income and Net Realized Investment Gains and Losses

The Company's total revenues were supplemented in fiscal 2001, 2000
and 1999 by net investment income of $99,611, $96,830 and $89,789,
respectively. Beginning in the first quarter of 2001, the Company, in the
2001 and prior years' results, classified its undistributed equity in the
earnings and losses on investments in closed-end preferred stock mutual

funds in net realized investment gains and losses. For the year ended
2000, the undistributed equity in the earnings and losses of these funds
was reported in net investment income. The Company believes the current

year presentation provides a more appropriate classification for analysis
of the on-going operations of the Company. Prior period results previously
reflected in investment income, have been reclassified to realized gains
and losses to conform with current period presentation. For the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 the Company reflected realized
gains (losses) of $4.6 million, $26.6 million and ($22.4) million,
respectively, as a result of this change. These investments are valued at
original cost plus the cumulative undistributed equity in earnings and
losses of the funds and adjusted over time by the premium or discount at
the time of purchase to the applicable underlying net asset value of the
funds. Also in 2001, the Company began to account for venture capital fund
investments on an equity basis. The equity in the operating results of

these funds has been reflected in realized gains and losses. Prior to this
change, the operating results were not material and were therefore
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income and loss. For 2001,

the Company had a net realized loss of $10.6 million, of which the largest
component, $9.1 million, was attributable to venture capital fund
investments.

Regulatory Matters
General

Although the U.S. federal government does not directly regulate the
insurance industry, federal initiatives often have an impact on the
business. Congress and certain federal agencies continue to investigate

the current condition of the insurance industry (encompassing both life and
health and property and casualty insurance) in the United States in order

14
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to decide whether some form of federal role in the regulation of insurance
companies would be appropriate. Congress conducts hearings relating, in
general, to the solvency of insurers and has proposed federal legislation
from time to time on this and other subjects.

In November 1999, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act was signed into law. The
Act (1) repealed the Glass-Steagall Act of 1933, which had prohibited the
merger of banks and securities firms, and (2) substantially modified the
Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, which had the effect of separating
banking and insurance underwriting business. The law contains pro-visions
that govern competition, created safe-harbor protections for specific state
laws and established consumer protections that govern bank-insurance sales.

At the state level, various forms of automobile insurance reform are
continuously debated. New regulations and legislation are often proposed
with the goal of reducing the need for premium increases. For further
details, please refer to the general discussion on insurance regulation and
premium rates beginning on page 5.

Personal Automobile Insurance

As previously mentioned, since 1995, the Company has been a leader in
affinity group marketing in Massachusetts by providing discounts to members
of the AAA clubs. Membership in these clubs is estimated to represent
approximately one-third of the Massachusetts motoring public. The Company
increased its Massachusetts private passenger automobile insurance
exposures by 5.8%, ending the year with approximately 23.3% of the
Massachusetts private passenger automobile market.

11

Through 2000, the Company offered its Massachusetts customers safe
driver deviations to drivers with SDIP classifications of either Steps 9 or
10 and to only Step 9 drivers in 2001. Safe driver deviations are rate
discounts based on the customer's driving record and resulting SDIP
classification and must be approved annually by the Commissioner. Steps 9
and 10 are the two best driver SDIP classifications in Massachusetts,
representing drivers with no at-fault accidents and not more than one minor
moving vehicle violation in the last six years. The accompanying table
depicts the AAA Affinity Group Discount, SDIP Deviations and their combined
reduction from Massachusetts average mandated rates:

AAA Affinity Group Discount and SDIP Deviations 2002* 2001 2000 1999
AAA Affinity Group Discount................. 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0
SDIP Step 9 Deviation..........oeeiieieeenn.. 0.0% 2.0% 6.0% 8.0
SDIP Step 10 Deviation............coiiein.. 0.0% 0.0% 2.0% 3.0

Combined AAA Affinity Group Discount and

Step 9 Deviation.........iiiiiiiiinn.. 6.0% 7.9% 11.6% 13.5
Combined AAA Affinity Group Discount and
Step 10 Deviation.........ouiiiiieeennnn. 6.0% 6.0% 7.9% 8.8

o° o oe

oe

oe
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*For policies with effective dates as of January 1, 2002 or thereafter.

In 2002, in response to the average personal automobile rate decisions
over the last several years, the Company did not file for SDIP Step 9 or
Step 10 deviations, for policies incepting in the 2002 calendar year.
During 2001, 55.0% of the Company's exposures were eligible for Step 9
deviations, versus 55.1% and 14.0%, eligible for Step 9 and Step 10
deviations in 2000.

Risk-Based Capital

In order to enhance the regulation of insurer insolvency, the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") developed a formula and
model law to provide for Risk-Based Capital ("RBC") requirements for
property and casualty insurance companies. RBC require-ments are designed
to assess capital adequacy and to raise the level of protection that
statutory surplus provides for policyholder obligations. The RBC model for
property and casualty insurance companies measures three major areas of
risk facing property and casualty insurers: (i) underwriting, which
encompasses the risk of adverse loss development and inadequate pricing;
(ii) declines in asset values arising from credit risk; and, (iii) other
business risks from investments. Insurers having less statutory surplus
than required by the RBC calculation will be subject to varying degrees of
regulatory action, depending on the level of capital inadequacy.

The RBC model formula proposes four levels of regulatory action. The
extent of regulatory intervention and action increases as the percentage of
surplus to RBC falls. The first level, the Company Action Level (as
defined by the NAIC), requires an insurer to submit a plan of corrective
actions to the regulator if surplus falls below 200% of the RBC amount.

The Regulatory Action Level (as defined by the NAIC) requires an insurer to
submit a plan containing corrective actions and permits the Commissioner to
perform an examination or other analysis and issue a corrective order if
surplus falls below 150% of the RBC amount. The Authorized Control Level
(as defined by the NAIC) allows the regulator to rehabilitate or liquidate
an insurer in addition to the aforementioned actions if surplus falls below
100% of the RBC amount. The fourth action level is the Mandatory Control
Level (as defined by the NAIC), which requires the regulator to
rehabilitate or liquidate the insurer if surplus falls below 70% of the RBC
amount .

12

The following table provides the key RBC information for the Company's
insurance subsidiaries, Commerce, Citation, Commerce West, and American
Commerce:

Commerce American

(Dollars in millions) Commerce Citation West Commerce
At December 31, 2001

Statutory surplus............. $ 609 $ 107 S 28 $ 84
200% RBC Company action level. 184 4 7 20
Statutory surplus in excess

of RBC Company action level. $ 425 $ 103 S 21 $ 64

RBC amoOUNES . v vt e e veeneeeennnnn S 92 $ 2 S 4 $ 10
% of surplus to RBC amounts... 662.0% 5,350.0% 700.0% 840.0%

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

16



Edgar Filing: COMMERCE GROUP INC /MA - Form ARS

Premiums
The following table compares direct premiums written, net premiums

written and earned premiums for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 $ Change
Direct Premiums Written:
Personal Automobile in Massachusetts...... $ 859,922 $ 827,180 $ 32,742
Personal Automobile in All Other States... 122,320 103,496 18,824
Commercial Automobile in Massachusetts.... 58,088 43,243 14,845
Commercial Automobile in All Other States. 1,514 104 1,410
Homeowners in Massachusetts............... 73,254 65,662 7,592
Homeowners in All Other States............ 18,710 16,498 2,212
Other Lines in Massachusetts.............. 17,885 14,860 3,025
Other Lines in All Other States........... 714 606 108
Total Direct Premiums Written.......... $1,152,407 $1,071,649 $ 80,758
Net Premiums Written:
Personal Automobile in Massachusetts...... $ 864,900 $ 839,394 $ 25,506
Personal Automobile in All Other States... 122,256 103,719 18,537
Commercial Automobile in Massachusetts.... 60,986 44,848 16,138
Commercial Automobile in All Other States. 1,477 104 1,373
Homeowners in Massachusetts............... 20,364 17,547 2,817
Homeowners in All Other States............ 4,576 (1,658) 6,234
Other Lines in Massachusetts.............. 4,236 4,916 (680)
Other Lines in All Other States........... 172 41 131
Total Net Premiums Written............. $1,078,967 $1,008,911 $ 70,056
Earned Premiums:
Personal Automobile in Massachusetts...... $ 776,552 $ 714,972 $ 61,580
Personal Automobile in All Other States... 116,479 100,101 16,378
Commercial Automobile in Massachusetts . 43,008 32,548 10,460
Commercial Automobile in All Other States. 711 19 692
Homeowners in Massachusetts............... 19,119 17,364 1,755
Homeowners in All Other States............ 3,731 4,186 (455)
Other Lines in Massachusetts.............. 3,290 3,434 (144)
Other Lines in All Other States........... 158 162 (4)
Assumed Premiums from C.A.R......ouiuueon. 80,176 81,300 (1,124)
Assumed Premiums from Other than C.A.R.... 428 397 31
Total Earned Premiums..........eeueuuu.. $1,043,652 $ 954,483 $ 89,169
Earned Premiums in Massachusetts.......... $ 841,969 $ 768,318 $ 73,651
Earned PremiumsS—ASsSUmMEd. . ... veeueenneeennnn 80,604 81,697 (1,093)
Earned Premiums in All Other States....... 121,079 104,468 16,611
Total Earned Premiums..........eeueuuu.. $1,043,652 $ 954,483 $ 89,169

*Calculation is not meaningful.
13

The $32,742 or 4.0% increase in Massachusetts personal automobile
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direct premiums written resulted primarily from increases of 5.8% and 7.1%
in the number of Massachusetts personal automobile exposures for liability
and physical damage coverage, respectively, offset in 2001 by decreases in
rates for the coverage types noted below. The components of these changes
from the previous year for 2001 and 2000 were as follows:

2001 2000
Coverage Type Rate Change (1) Rate Change (1)
Liability:
Bodily INjuULY .o e e eeeeeenennn (2.1%) 1.0%
Personal Injury Protection.... (12.9%) 6.4%
Property Damage to Others..... 1.0% 20.8%
Physical Damage:
Collision...iiiiiiieiiinnnnn. (0.1%) 1.7%
Comprehensive................. (7.6%) 2.4%
Total (2) c.iiiiininnnonn. (1.9%) 6.2%
(1) Represents change in the Company's average rate per exposure from the Company's
prior year average rate for Massachusetts private passenger automobile premiums.
(2) The total rate change depicted is the result of the weighted average of premiums

written for all coverages divided by liability exposures only, due to the fact that
all exposures are required to carry liability coverage.

The above percentage changes were primarily the result of rate
modifications in the individual coverage components in the 2001 state
mandated rates, offset by changes in the Company's safe driver rate
deviations. The combination of these factors resulted in a 1.9% decrease
in the average personal automobile premium per exposure in 2001. Despite
the 2001 state mandated average rate decrease of 8.3%, the smaller Company
decrease in the average personal automobile premium per exposure was
primarily due to the above noted changes coupled with the fact that the
rate decision does not anticipate purchases of new auto-mobiles in the year
to which the rate decision applies and the Company's mix of personal
automobile business differs from that of the industry. In 2001, the
Company offered its customers safe driver deviations of 2.0% to drivers
with SDIP classifications of Step 9 and 0.0% for Step 10 (6.0% for Step 9
and 2.0% for Step 10 in 2000).

As shown in the table found on page 12, the AAA affinity group
discount for 2001 was established at 6.0%, which was unchanged from 2000.
In 2001, for drivers who qualified, the Company's AAA affinity group
discount and safe driver deviations could be combined for up to a 7.9%
reduction (11.6% in 2000) from state mandated rates.

Other states personal automobile direct premiums written increased
$18,824 or 18.2%, however, an overall depressed rate environment resulted
in diminished underwriting profits. The Company continues to evaluate a
number of its other than Massachusetts state rating structures, has filed
for increases in several states and will seek additional rate increases
where appropriate. Personal automobile direct premiums written by American
Commerce increased $7,319 or 9.4% to $85,124 as compared to $77,805 due
primarily to book rollovers of business from existing agents, partially
offset by decreases in states where the Company is not actively pursuing
writings. Personal automobile direct premiums written from Commerce West
increased $11,505 or 44.5% to $37,196 as compared to $25,691. Both
companies target preferred insurance risks, however Commerce West's recent
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growth is attributable to the introduction of a non-standard auto product
in late 2000. Both American Commerce and Commerce West write predominantly
personal automobile insurance. American Commerce writes personal
automobile insurance in 26 states while Commerce West writes personal
automobile insurance in the states of California and Oregon. Personal
automobile policies for both companies are written primarily for a policy
term of six months. Homeowner and other policies in all states are written
primarily for a policy term of one year.

14

Direct premiums written for Massachusetts commercial automobile
insurance increased by $14,845 or 34.3%, due primarily to an increase of
approximately 9.0% in the number of policies written, combined with a 23.5%
increase in the average commercial automobile premium per policy. The
increase in premium per policy was attributable to a hardening of the
commercial automobile market, primarily in larger commercial accounts. The
Company experienced an increase of approximately $3,700 from policies in
excess of $50. 1In addition, rates for other voluntary commercial
automobile policies have increased moderately, combined with an approximate
10% increase in rates for policies written through C.A.R. The increased
business was attributable to the Company's initiative to expand writings.

Direct premiums written for Massachusetts homeowners insurance
increased by $7,592 or 11.6% due primarily to a 6.4% increase in the number
of Massachusetts policies written coupled with a 5.0% increase in the
average Massachusetts premium per policy. The increase in business was
primarily attributable to existing and newly appointed agents. Other
states homeowners insurance written by American Commerce increased $2,212
or 13.4% to $18,710 due primarily to book rollovers of business from
existing agents.

The $70,056 or 6.9% increase in net premiums written was primarily due
to the growth in direct premiums written as described above offset by an
increase in premiums ceded to C.A.R. coupled with an increase in premiums
ceded to reinsurers other than C.A.R. Net premiums written for homeowners
in all other states increased $6,234, with net premiums written of $4,576
in 2001, as compared to ($1,658) in 2000. The reason for negative written
premium in 2000 was due to American Commerce joining the quota share
reinsurance agreement effective January 1, 2000. An unearned premium
transfer of $6,033 occurred effective January 1, 2000, which has a direct
impact to net written premium.

The $89,169 or 9.3% increase in earned premiums during 2001, as
compared to 2000, was primarily due to increases in written exposures for
Massachusetts personal automobile liability and physical damage, coupled
with an increase in earned premium per exposure. The increase in earned
premium per exposure occurs (versus a decrease in written premium per
exposure) because of the time lag in earning the premium once it is
written. This resulted in a $61,580 or 8.6% increase for Massachusetts
personal automobile earned premium.

Investment Income

Net investment income is affected primarily by the composition of the
Company's investment portfolio and yield thereon. The following table
summarizes the composition of the Company's investment portfolio, at cost,
at December 31, 2001 and 2000 (the Company's investment portfolio, at
market and equity is shown in the table on page 25):
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Investments, at cost December 31,
% of % of
2001 Invest. 2000 Invest.
GNMA & FNMA mortgage-backed bonds...... S 98,198 6.7% S 67,274 4.7%
Corporate bonds.......ccoiiiiiinnnnn. 133,506 9.1 130,775 9.1
U.S. Treasury bonds and notes.......... 104 - 3,428 0.2
Tax exempt state and municipal bonds... 386,967 26.2 464,404 32.1
Total fixed maturities............. 618,775 42.0 665,881 46.1
Preferred stocks.....ooiiiiiiiii.. 256,582 17.4 215,823 14.9
Common StoCKS. ..t ittt ii i 87,704 5.9 87,704 6.1
Closed-end preferred stock mutual funds 294,948 20.0 327,980 22.7
Mortgages and collateral loans (net of
allowance for possible loan losses).. 39,505 2.7 51,661 3.6
Cash and cash equivalents.............. 148,630 10.1 70,521 4.9
Other investments............ccoioe.... 28,291 1.9 25,475 1.7
Total investments.................. $1,474,435 100.0% $1,445,045 100.0%

15

The Company's investment strategy is to maximize after-tax investment
income through investing in high quality securities coupled with acquiring
equity investments, which may forgo current investment yield in favor of
potential higher yielding capital appreciation in the future.

As depicted in the following table, 2001 net investment income
increased $2,781 or 2.9%, compared to 2000, principally as a result of an
increase in average invested assets (at cost), offset by a decrease in
yield. The decrease in yield is primarily due to lower short-term yields
on larger cash and cash equivalent balances, coupled with an environment of
higher yielding fixed maturities being called. The Company continues to
monitor interest rates on long-term securities and intends to maintain its
high cash position until such time as the Company believes long-term rates
have appropriately firmed. Net investment income as a percentage of total
average investments was 6.6% in 2001 compared to 6.9% for 2000. Net
investment income after tax as a percentage of total average investments
was 5.3% and 5.7% for 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Investment Return Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000
Average month-end investments (at cost)... $1,506,485 $1,395,159
Net investment income before tax.......... 99,611 96,830
Net investment income after-tax........... 79,172 79,547
Net investment income as a percentage
of average net investments (at cost).... 6.6% 6.9%

Net investment income after-tax as a
percentage of average net
investments (at cost) .......iiiii... 5.3

oe
(€)]
~
oe
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Premium Finance and Service Fees

Premium finance and service fees increased $2,592 or 17.0% during
2001, as a result of increased premiums as discussed earlier.

Amortization of Excess of Book Value of Subsidiary Interest over Cost

As a result of the acquisition of American Commerce (see
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations - General" and "Notes to Consoli-dated Financial Statements
- NOTES Al2 and Al7"), the amount representing the excess of the fair
value of the net assets acquired over the purchase price at January 29,
1999 was $16,947. This amount is being amortized into revenue on a
straight-line basis over a five-year period. The amount amortized into
revenue in 2001 was $3,389, compared to $3,390 in 2000.

Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment losses totaled $10,633 during 2001 as
compared to gains of $29,550 in 2000. Of the net realized losses during
2001, $9,071 was a result of the Company's venture capital fund
investments. These investments primarily provide seed capital for start-
up companies with emerging high technology initiatives in the financial
services industry. These investments are made in limited partnerships and
the Company's exposure to loss is limited to its actual investment. 1In
2001, the Company began to account for these investments on an equity
basis. The equity in the operating results of these funds has been
reflected in realized gains and losses. Prior to this change, the
operating results were not material and were therefore reflected in
accumulated other comprehensive income and loss.

Also during 2001, the undistributed operating results of closed-end
preferred stock mutual funds have been reflected in realized gains and
losses. Year-end December 31, 2000 period results previously reflected in
investment income, have been reclassified to realized gains and losses to
conform with current period presentation. During 2001 and 2000, the
Company reflected realized gains of $4,582 and $26,575, respectively, as a
result of this change.

16

Gross realized gains and losses for the years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31,
2000 were as follows:

2001 2000

Gross Gross Gross Gross

Realized Realized Realized Realized

Gains Losses Gains Losses
Fixed maturities......... S 957 $ (3,773) S 223 §$ (3,995)
Preferred stocks......... 128 (3,820) 1,748 (462)
Common stocks............ 1,526 (923) 4,370 -
Closed-end preferred

stock mutual funds*.... 5,197 (615) 26,641 (66)

Venture capital fund
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investments............ - (9,071) 460 -
Other investments........ - (239) 631 -
Total..eeeeeeeenennn. S 7,808 $ (18,441) S 34,073 $ (4,523)

* Includes $3,215 in 2001 and $9,260 in 2000, respectively, relating to
the amortization of the net discount, at the time of purchase, of these
securities.

Gross accumulated other comprehensive income and losses at December 31, 2001 and
December 31, 2000 were as follows:

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated
Other Other Other Other
Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
Income Losses Income Losses
Fixed maturities......... S 17,994 $ (10,287) $ 16,247 S (12,193)
Preferred stocks......... 6,289 (14,770) 999 (16,739)
Common stocks............ 21,590 (1,836) 28,126 (3)
Other investments........ - - 1,327 -
Total.....oovennnn S 45,873 $ (26,893) s 46,699 $ (28,935)

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ("LAE") incurred increased
$91,386 or 13.3% in 2001. Massachusetts operations experienced declining
underwriting results primarily due to increased losses in the homeowners
property business and in comprehensive personal automobile, due to more
adverse weather conditions compared to last year. The ratio of net
incurred losses, excluding LAE, to premiums earned ("pure loss ratio") on
Massachusetts personal automobile was 65.4% in 2001 compared to 63.1% in
2000. The commercial automobile pure loss ratio increased to 61.8% in
2001 compared to 59.7% in 2000. This increase was primarily due to higher
bodily injury losses and to higher physical damage losses coupled with
worse experience in the business assumed from C.A.R. during this period.
For Massachusetts homeowners (gross of reinsurance), the pure loss ratio
was 47.6% in 2001 compared to 40.0% in 2000. This increase was the result
of more claims for Massachusetts homeowner business due to less favorable
weather conditions, as compared to last year, primarily during the first

six months of 2001. Pure loss ratios of subsidiaries in other states
increased to 67.5% in 2001 compared to 62.9% in 2000. The loss ratio (on

a statutory basis) for Commerce West and American Commerce was 85.1% and
84.4%, respectively, in 2001, compared to 69.3% and 84.5% respectively, in
2000. The increase in the loss ratio for Commerce West was primarily
attributable to a substantial increase in non-standard automobile writings
with loss ratios that are significantly higher than their regular
business.

17
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Policy Acquisition Costs

Policy acquisition costs expensed increased by $17,613 or 7.2% in
2001. As a per-centage of net premiums written, the Company's statutory
underwriting expense ratio for 2001 was 24.4% compared to 25.1% in 2000.
The decreased 2001 underwriting expense ratio resulted primarily from a
lower provision for accrued contingent commissions, lower insolvency
assessments and lower expenses due to the continued effects of certain
cost reduction programs. The 2000 underwriting ratio includes a $4,900
charge versus $1,244 in 2001, representing the Company's allocation from
the Massachusetts Insurers Insolvency Fund. The underwriting expense
ratio (on a statutory basis) for Commerce West was 32.7% for 2001 as
compared to 35.8% for 2000. The underwriting expense ratio (on a
statutory basis) for American Commerce, was 32.6% for 2001 compared to
29.3% for 2000.

Income Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate was 20.1% and 22.5% for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. 1In both years the
effective rate was lower than the statutory rate of 35% primarily due to
tax—-exempt interest income and the corporate dividends received deduction.

Minority Interest in Net Loss of Subsidiary

As a result of the joint venture with AAA SNE and acquisition of
American Commerce (see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - General" and "Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements - NOTES Al3 and Al17"), the Company's interest in ACIC
Holding Co., Inc., through Commerce, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CHI, is
represented by ownership of 80% of the outstanding shares of common stock
at December 31, 2001. AAA SNE maintains a 20% common stock ownership.
The minority interest of $863 included in the consolidated statement of
earnings for 2001 represents 20% of the net loss for ACIC Holding Co.,
Inc., calculated after the $9,582 preferred stock dividend paid to
Commerce, to the extent of the minority interest. This compares to $320
minority interest in net loss of subsidiary after $9,178 in preferred
stock dividends paid to Commerce in 2000. During the third quarter of
2001, the net losses of ACIC Holding Co., Inc. exceeded the minority
interest balance sheet component.

Net Earnings

Net earnings decreased $38,986 or 29.5% to $93,094 during 2001 as
compared to $132,080 in 2000. Operating earnings, which exclude the
after-tax impact of net realized investment gains and losses, decreased
$10,751 or 9.8% to $98,880 ($2.94 per share basic and $2.93 per share
diluted) during 2001 as compared to $109,631 ($3.21 per share basic and
diluted) in 2000, as a result of the factors previously mentioned.
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Year Ended December 31,

Premiums

The following table compares direct premiums,

2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31,

and earned premiums for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 19

1999

99:

Direct Premiums Written:

Personal Automobile in Massachusetts......
Personal Automobile in All Other States...
Commercial Automobile in Massachusetts....
Commercial Automobile in All Other States.
Homeowners in Massachusetts...............
Homeowners in All Other States............
Other Lines in Massachusetts..............
Other Lines in All Other States...........

Total Direct Premiums Written..........

Net Premiums Written:

Personal Automobile in Massachusetts......
Personal Automobile in All Other States...
Commercial Automobile in Massachusetts....
Commercial Automobile in All Other States.
Homeowners in Massachusetts...............
Homeowners in All Other States............
Other Lines in Massachusetts..............
Other Lines in All Other States...........

Total Net Premiums Written.............

Earned Premiums:

Personal Automobile in Massachusetts......
Personal Automobile in All Other States...
Commercial Automobile in Massachusetts....
Commercial Automobile in All Other States.
Homeowners in Massachusetts...............
Homeowners in All Other States............
Other Lines in Massachusetts..............
Other Lines in All Other States...........
Assumed Premiums from C.A.R........coo....
Assumed Premiums from Other than C.A.R....

Total Earned Premiums...........ccuouo.o...
FEarned Premiums in Massachusetts..........
FEarned Premiums—-Assumed. .. .....ccoueuuueueenn.

Earned Premiums in All Other States.......

Total Earned Premiums...........ccouo.o...

net premiums written

Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999
$ 827,180 $731,329
103,496 92,297%
43,243 36,616
104 -
65,662 59,981
16,498 14,378*
14,860 13,027
606 521%*
$1,071, 649 $948,149
S 839,394 $747,402
103,719 91, 640*
44,848 38,593
104 -
17,547 16,304
(1,658) 13,543*
4,916 4,193
41 318*
$1,008,911 $911, 993
S 714,972 $633,746
100,101 91,357*
32,548 29,219
19 -
17,364 16,830
4,186 12,032*
3,434 3,190
162 755%*
81,300 84,356
397 345
$ 954,483 $871,830
$ 768,301 $682,985
81,697 84,701
104,485 104,144~*
$ 954,483 $871,830

*Includes eleven-month results of American Commerce since the January 29,

Change

$ 95,851
11,199
6,627
104
5,681
2,120
1,833

85

$123,500

$ 91,992
12,079
6,255
104
1,243
(15,201)
723
(277)

$ 96,918

$ 81,226
8,744
3,329

19

534
(7,846)

244
(593)
(3,056)

52

$ 82,653
$ 85,316
(3,004)
341

$ 82,653

o)

% Change

13.1%
12.1%
18.1%

9.5%
14.7%
14.1%
16.3%

13.0%

12.3%
13.2%
16.2%

7.6%
(112.2%)

17.2%
(87.1%)

10.6%
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1999 acquisition.
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The $95,851 or 13.1% increase in Massachusetts personal automobile
direct premiums written resulted primarily from increases of 6.4% and 8.5%
in the number of Massachusetts personal automobile exposures for liability
and physical damage coverage, respectively, coupled in 2000 with increases
in rates for the coverage types noted below. The components of these
changes from the previous year for 2000 and 1999 were as follows:

2000 1999

Coverage Type Rate Change (1) Rate Change (1)
Liability:

Bodily INjuULY e e et eeeennnnnnn 1.0% (1.9%)

Personal Injury Protection.... 6.4% 11.0%

Property Damage to Others..... 20.8% 9.1%
Physical Damage:

Collision.....oeiiieinennnnn. 1.7% 25.2%

Comprehensive................. 2.4% 11.7%

Total (2) ceiiieiinnnnnnn. 6.2% 9.1%

(1) Represents change in the Company's average rate per exposure from the Company's
prior year average rate charged for Massachusetts private passenger automobile
premiums.

(2) The total rate change depicted is the result of the weighted average of premiums

written for all coverages divided by liability exposures only, due to the fact that
all exposures are required to carry liability coverage.

The above percentage changes were primarily the result of rate
modifications in the individual coverage components in the 2000 state
mandated average rate increase, combined with changes in the Company's safe
driver rate deviations. The combination of these factors resulted in a
6.2% increase in the average personal automobile premium per exposure in
2000. Despite the 2000 state mandated average rate increase of only 0.7%,
the Company's increase in the average personal automobile premium per
exposure was primarily due to the above noted changes coupled with the fact
that the rate decision does not anticipate purchases of new automobiles in
the year to which the rate decision applies and the Company's mix of
personal automobile business differs from that of the industry. In 2000,
the Company offered its customers safe driver deviations of 6.0% to drivers
with SDIP classifications of Step 9 and 2.0% for Step 10 (8.0% for Step 9
and 3.0% for Step 10 in 1999).

As shown in the table found on page 12, the AAA affinity group
discount for 2000 was established at 6.0%, which was unchanged from 1999.
In 2000, for drivers who qualified, the Company's AAA affinity group
discount and safe driver deviations could be combined for up to a 11.6%
reduction (13.5% in 1999) from state mandated rates.

Direct premiums written for commercial automobile insurance increased
by $6,627 or 18.1%, due primarily to an increase of approximately 10.1% in
the number of policies written, combined with a 6.9% increase in the
average commercial automobile premium per policy. The increased business
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was attributable to the Company's intention to expand writings coupled with
increased business due to the insolvency of Trust Insurance Company
("Trust"), a former Massachusetts insurance company that was placed in
receivership in 2000. Direct premiums written for homeowners insurance
increased by $7,801 or 10.5% due primarily to a 13.5% increase in the
number of Massachusetts policies written offset by a 3.0% decrease in the
average Massachusetts premium per policy, coupled with an additional month
premium from American Commerce. The increased business was primarily
attributable to the previously mentioned Trust insolvency.

The $96,918 or 10.6% increase in net premiums written was due to the
growth in direct premiums written as described above, offset by a decrease
of premiums assumed from C.A.R. The decrease in premiums assumed from
C.A.R. was the result of fewer premiums ceded to C.A.R. by the servicing
carriers in 2000 as compared to 1999. Premiums ceded to reinsurers other
than C.A.R. increased $22,289 or 40.8% as compared to 1999 as a result of
American Commerce joining the quota-share reinsurance program effective
January 1, 2000 and increases in Massachusetts homeowners premiums.

20

The $82,653 or 9.5% increase in earned premiums during 2000 as
compared to 1999 was primarily due to increases to the average rates per
exposure for Massachusetts personal automobile liability and physical
damage, and the increased business due to the insolvency of Trust mentioned
previously. This resulted in an $85,316 or 12.5% increase for
Massachusetts earned premiums. The remaining changes were attributable to
a $3,004 or 3.5% decrease in earned premiums assumed from C.A.R. offset by
$341, or 0.3% increase in earned premiums from all other states, primarily
attributable to American Commerce whose year to date 2000 results reflect a
full twelve months as compared to eleven months in 1999, offset by the
effect of ceded earned premium to the quota share treaty.

Investment Income

Net investment income is affected primarily by the composition of the
Company's investment portfolio and yield thereon. The following table
summarizes the composition of the Company's investment portfolio, at cost,
at December 31, 2000 and 1999:

Investments, at cost December 31,
% of % of
2000 Invest. 1999 Invest.
GNMA & FNMA mortgage-backed bonds...... S 67,274 4.7% $ 82,349 6.1%
Corporate bonds.......c.uiiiiinnnnn. 130,775 9.1 45,147 3.3
U.S.Treasury bonds and notes........... 3,428 0.2 3,616 0.3
Tax exempt state and municipal bonds... 464,404 32.1 530,333 39.2
Total fixed maturities............. 665,881 46.1 661,445 48.9
Preferred stocks......oiiiiiiii... 215,823 14.9 230,934 17.1
Common StoCKS. ..ttt tiiineennnn 87,704 6.1 83,984 6.2
Closed-end preferred stock mutual funds 327,980 22.7 267,956 19.8

Mortgages and collateral loans (net of
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allowance for possible loan losses).. 51,661 3.6 72,451 5.4
Cash and cash equivalents.............. 70,521 4.9 22,535 1.7
Other investments.......... i 25,475 1.7 13,130 0.9

Total investments........oeueeeenn. $1,445,045 100.0% $1,352,435 100.0%

The Company's investment strategy is to maximize after-tax investment
income through high quality securities coupled with acquiring equity
investments, which may forgo current investment yield in favor of potential
higher yielding capital appreciation in the future.

As depicted in the accompanying table, net investment income before
taxes increased $7,041 or 7.8%, compared to 1999, principally as a result
of an increase in average invested assets (at cost). Net investment income
as a percentage of total average investments was 6.9% in 2000, compared to
6.8% in 1999. Net investment income after tax as a percentage of total
average investments was 5.6% in 2000 and 6.3% in 1999.

Investment Return Years Ended December 31,
2000 1999
Average month-end investments (at cost)... $1,395,159 $1,326,098
Net investment income before tax.......... 96,830 89,789
Net investment income after-tax........... 79,547 74,970
Net investment income as a percentage
of average net investments (at cost).... 6.9% 6.8%

Net investment income after-tax as a
percentage of average net
investments (at cost) .......uii... 5.7

oe
(€]
~J
oe

Premium Finance and Service Fees

Premium finance and service fees increased $453 or 3.1% during 2000.
21

Amortization of Excess of Book Value of Subsidiary Interest over Cost

As a result of the acquisition of American Commerce (see "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -
General" and "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - NOTES Al2 and
Al17"), the amount representing the excess of the fair value of the net
assets acquired over the purchase price at January 29, 1999 was $16,947.
The amount is being amortized into revenues on a straight-line basis over a
five-year period. The amount amortized into revenues in 2000 was $3,390,
compared to $3,019 in 1999.

Investment Gains and Losses

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company changed its policy in
regard to its investments in certain closed-end preferred stock mutual
funds. On a forward going basis, the Company intends to take a proactive
posture to affect the overall investment performance of these funds. The
Company's ownership position of these various funds at December 31, 2000
range from 23% to 48% of outstanding shares. The level of ownership and
new investment policy requires the company to account for these investments
on an equity basis. The equity method requires that the investments are to
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be valued at original cost plus the cumulative equity in the earnings and
losses of the funds and adjusted over time by the premium or discount at
the time of purchase to the applicable underlying net asset value of the
funds. Prior to the policy change, the Company reported the income on a
cash basis, valued the investments at quoted market prices and recorded the
change in quoted market prices through comprehensive income. The results
of prior accounting periods impacted by this change have been restated.

During 2001, the undistributed operating results of closed-end
preferred stock mutual funds have been reflected in realized gains and
losses. Year-end December 31, 2000 period results previously reflected in
investment income, have been reclassified to realized gains and losses to
conform with current period presentation. During 2000 the Company
reflected a realized gain of $26,575 versus a loss in 1999 of $22,401, as a
result of this change.

Gross realized gains and losses for the years ended December 31, 2000
and December 31, 1999 were as follows:

2000 1999
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Realized Realized Realized Realized
Gains Losses Gains Losses
Fixed maturities......ouee i S 223 S (3,995) S 458 S (6,449)
Preferred stocks........ ... 1,748 (462) 207 (451)
Closed-end preferred stock mutual
fUNAS .. vttt e ettt e e e e e 26,641 (66) 1,900 (24,301)
Common StOCKS . . vttt ittt ettt eeeeen 4,370 - 16,080 (5,057)
Venture capital fund investments.... 460 - 888 -
Other investments................... 631 - 347 -
Total. .ottt e et e ettt $ 34,073 $ (4,523) $ 19,880 $(36,258)
22
Gross accumulated other comprehensive income and losses for December
31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 were as follows:
December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated
Other Other Other Other
Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
Income Losses Income Losses
Fixed maturities.......... S 16,247 $ (12,193) S 5,221 (19,328)
Preferred stocks.......... 999 (16,739) 782 (20, 667)
Common stocks............. 28,126 (3) 1,305 (7,941)
Other investments......... 1,327 - 1,009 -
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Total......ooi.. $ 46,699 S (28,935) S 8,317 $ (47,936)

The accumulated other comprehensive income on fixed maturities
increased significantly as a result of the favorable performance in the
bond market due to lower interest rates in 2000. Long-term interest rates
(30-year Treasury Bond) decreased to 5.46% at December 31, 2000 from 6.48%
at December 31, 1999.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ("LAE") incurred increased $61,067
or 9.8% in 2000. As a percentage of premiums earned, losses and LAE
incurred for 2000 was 71.7% compared to 72.0% in 1999. The Company
experienced higher assumed residual market losses during 2000, which were
offset by improved voluntary loss ratios in Massachusetts. Additionally in
2000, the loss ratio was adversely impacted by approximately $8,000 of
expense (0.8% of the loss ratio) attributable to the Trust insolvency.

Also included in the 2000 increase in incurred expense 1s approximately
$6,300 in higher corporate expenses which are allocated to losses and LAE
for book value appreciation rights, director retirement compensation and
state income taxes on non-insurance subsidiaries. The ratio of net
incurred losses, excluding LAE, to premiums earned ("pure loss ratio") on
personal automobile was 63.2% in 2000 compared to 65.1% in 1999. The
decrease to the personal automobile pure loss ratio was primarily due to an
increase in redundancies arising from prior accident years, and decreases
in the cost of adjusting losses. The commercial automobile pure loss ratio
decreased to 59.7% in 2000 compared to 60.3% in 1999. For homeowners, the
pure loss ratio was 40.0% in 2000 compared to 35.9% in 1999. The increase
was primarily due to fewer liability redundancies in 2000 compared to 1999.
The loss ratio (on a statutory basis) for Commerce West was 69.3% for 2000
as compared to 71.2% in 1999. The loss ratio (on a statutory basis) for
American Commerce was 84.5% for 2000 as compared to its eleven-month loss
ratio of 75.8% in 1999.

Policy Acquisition Costs

Policy acquisition costs expensed increased by $9,597 or 4.1% in 2000.
As a percentage of net premiums written, the Company's statutory
underwriting expense ratio for 2000 was 25.1% compared to 26.5% in 1999.
The decreased 2000 underwriting expense ratio resulted primarily from lower
Massachusetts direct automobile commissions associated with a decrease in
the state mandated minimum commissions, a lower provision for accrued
contingent commissions, and lower expenses due to the continued effects of
certain cost reduction programs, partially offset by the Trust insolvency
assessment. The 2000 underwriting ratio includes a $4,900 charge (0.5% of
the underwriting expense ratio) representing the Company's allocation from
the Massachusetts Insurers Insolvency Fund for this insolvency. Also
included in the 2000 increase in policy acquisition costs expensed is
approximately $5,800 in higher corporate expenses which are allocated to
policy acquisition costs for book value appreciation rights, director
retirement compensation and state income taxes on non-insurance
subsidiaries. The underwriting expense ratio (on a statutory basis) for
Commerce West was 35.8% for 2000 as compared to 40.9% for 1999. The
underwriting expense ratio (on a statutory basis) for American Commerce,
was 29.3% for 2000 compared to its eleven-month expense ratio of 31.4% for
1999.
23
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Income Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate was 22.5% and 16.0% for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 1In both years the
effective rate was lower than the statutory rate of 35% primarily due to
tax-exempt interest income and the corporate dividends received deduction.
The higher effective tax rate for 2000 was the result of both the tax-
exempt interest and the dividends received deduction comprising a lesser
portion of earnings before taxes.

Minority Interest in Net Loss of Subsidiary

As a result of the joint venture with AAA SNE and acquisition of
American Commerce (see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - General" and "Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements - NOTES Al3 and Al7"), the Company's interest in ACIC
Holding Co., Inc., through Commerce, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CHI, is
represented by ownership of 80% of the outstanding shares of common stock
at December 31, 2000. AAA SNE maintains a 20% common stock ownership. The
minority interest in net loss of subsidiary of $320 included in the
consolidated statement of earnings for 2000 represents 20% of the net loss
for ACIC Holding Co., Inc. calculated after the $9,178 preferred stock
dividend paid to Commerce. This compares to $1,059 minority interest in
net loss of subsidiary after $8,300 in preferred stock dividends paid to
Commerce in 1999.

Net Earnings

Net earnings increased $43,404 or 48.9% to $132,080 during 2000 as
compared to $88,676 in 1999. The net earnings for 2000 were increased by
$20,514, or $0.60 per share and decreased $14,020 or $0.40 per share in
1999 as a result of the Company's change in its policy in regard to its
investment in closed-end preferred stock mutual funds mentioned previously.
Operating earnings, which exclude the after-tax impact of net realized
investment gains, increased $12,220 or 12.5% to $109,631 ($3.21 per share
basic and diluted) during 2000 as compared to $97,411 ($2.79 per share
basic and diluted) in 1999, as a result of the factors previously
mentioned.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The focus of the discussion of liquidity and capital resources is on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets on page 35 and the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows on pages 38 and 39. Stockholders' equity increased by
$30,393, or 3.9%, in 2001 as compared to 2000. The increase resulted from
$93,094 in net earnings, and by net increases in other comprehensive
income, net of income tax benefits, on fixed maturities and preferred and
common stocks of $561, offset by dividends paid to stockholders of $39,951
and Treasury Stock purchased of $23,311. Total assets at December 31, 2001
increased $64,468, or 3.1% to $2,140,082 as compared to total assets of
$2,075,614 at December 31, 2000. Invested assets, at market value and

equity, increased $25,639 or 1.7%. Premiums receivable increased $15,641
or 6.8%. The increase in premiums receivable from December 31, 2000, was

primarily attributable to increases in Massachusetts automobile business.
Deferred policy acquisition costs increased $5,252 or 4.7%. Receivable
from reinsurers increased $8,896 or 14.5%, primarily attributable to the
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increase in other than automobile business previously discussed. The
deferred income tax asset increased $4,952, mainly as a result of
accounting for certain investments on an equity basis. All other remaining
assets increased $4,088 or 2.2%.
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The Company's investment portfolio, at market and equity, is shown on the following
table as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 (for investments, at cost, refer to the table found
on page 15):

December 31,

Investments, at market and equity % of % of
2001 Invest. 2000 Invest.
GNMA & FNMA mortgage-backed bonds...... S 98,985 6.6% S 67,261 4.6%
Corporate bonds.......c.iiiiinnnnn. 136,506 9.1 126,255 8.6
U.S.Treasury bonds and notes........... 105 - 3,377 0.2
Tax exempt state and municipal bonds... 390,886 26.1 473,042 32.1
Total fixed maturities............. 626,482 41.8 669,935 45.5
Preferred stocks.......iiiiiiiiinnen. 248,101 16.6 200,083 13.6
Common StoCKS. ..ottt it ii i 107,458 7.2 115,827 7.9
Closed-end preferred stock
mutual funds at equity............... 309,282 20.6 337,733 22.9
Mortgages and collateral loans (net of
allowance for possible loan losses).. 39,505 2.6 51,661 3.5
Cash and cash equivalents.............. 148,630 9.9 70,521 4.8
Other investments.......... i 18,743 1.3 26,802 1.8
Total investments.................. $1,498,201 100.0% $1,472,562 100.0%

Comparison of Cost/Market Value of Fixed Maturities for the years ended December 31,

2001
% of Total
Market Cost Difference Based on Cost
GNMA & FNMA mortgage-backed bonds..... $ 98,985 $ 98,198 s 787 15.9%
Corporate bonds......coiiiiiinnnenn. 136,506 133,506 3,000 21.6%
U.S. Treasury bonds and notes......... 105 104 1 0.0%
Tax exempt state and municipal bonds.. 390, 886 386,967 3,919 62.5%
Total fixed maturities.............. $ 626,482 $ 618,775 S 7,707 100.0%
2000
% of Total
Market Cost Difference Based on Cost
GNMA & FNMA mortgage-backed bonds..... $ 67,261 S 67,274 S (13) 10.0%
Corporate bonds.......coiiiiiinnnenn. 126,255 130,775 (4,520) 20.0%
U.S. Treasury bonds and notes......... 3,377 3,428 (51) 1.0%
Tax exempt state and municipal bonds.. 473,042 464,404 8,638 70.0%
Total fixed maturities.............. $ 669,935 $ 665,881 S 4,054 100.0%

Of the Company's bonds, 97.9% are rated in either of the two highest quality categories
provided by the NAIC.
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Comparison of Carrying Value for the years ended December 31,

2001 2000
Market/Equity Market/Equity % of
Value Value Variance Variance
Fixed maturities........c.uieiiuenen.. $ 626,482 $ 669,935 $  (43,453) (6.5%)
Preferred stocks...... ... .. 248,101 200,083 48,018 24.0%
Common StoCKS. ...ttt it ennennnn 107,458 115,827 (8,369) (7.2%)
Closed-end preferred stock
mutual funds at equity.............. 309,282 337,733 (28,451) (8.4%)
Mortgages and collateral loans
(net of allowance for possible
1oANn 10SSES) v v v ettt et eeennnnneens 39,505 51,661 (12,156) (23.5%)
Cash and cash equivalents............. 148,630 70,521 78,109 110.8%
Other investments............ccieioo... 18,743 26,802 (8,059) (30.1%)
Total investments.........c.ocueueen.. $1,498,201 $1,472,562 S 25,639 1.7%
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Preferred stocks increased $48,018, or 24.0% and common stocks
decreased $8,369, or 7.2%, during 2001. Preferred stock mutual funds at
equity, decreased $28,541 or 8.4% in 2001 compared to 2000. The majority
of the increase in preferred stocks and the corresponding decrease in
preferred stock mutual funds was primarily the result of a newly created
trust fund. In 2001, the trustees of Putnam Dividend Income Fund ("PDI")
liquidated the fund. The Company's pro-rata share of the portfolio
securities and cash of PDI was transferred to a new fund created by the PDI
trustees whose ownership was conveyed to the Company. At December 31, 2001
the fund was consolidated into the Company's financial statements, totaling
$60,869. The majority of the fund represents investments valued at $59,019
and is included in preferred stocks and $1,332 in cash and cash
equivalents. Other investments at equity, comprised of venture capital
fund investments, decreased $8,059 or 30.1% during 2001 as a result of
equity accounting changes mentioned previously. The Company's strategy
continues to focus on maximizing after-tax investment income through
investing in high quality securities coupled with acquiring equity
investments, which may forgo current investment yield in favor of potential
higher yielding capital appreciation in the future. The Company continues
to monitor interest rates on long-term securities and intends to maintain
its high cash position until such time as the Company believes the long-
term rates have appropriately firmed.

The Company's liabilities increased $35,143 or 2.7% to $1,327,808 at
December 31, 2001 as compared to $1,292,665 at December 31, 2000. Loss and
loss adjustment expense reserves comprised 51.3% of the Company's
liabilities at December 31, 2001 compared with 52.2% at December 31, 2000.
Unearned premiums comprised 42.4% of the Company's liabilities at December
31, 2001 compared with 40.2% at December 31, 2000. All other liabilities
comprised 6.3% of the Company's liabilities at December 31, 2001, compared
with 7.6% at December 31, 2000. Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves
increased $7,484 or 1.1%. Unearned premiums increased $43,571 or 8.4%, due
primarily to increased business in 2001. Current income taxes decreased
$13,988 or 80.4%. The net effect of all other liabilities decreased $4,659
or 5.5%.
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Liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses at December
2000 consist of:

2001
Net voluntary unpaid loss and LAE reservesS..........eeee.. $558, 635
Voluntary salvage and subrogation recoverable............. (73,393)
Assumed unpaid loss and LAE reserves from C.A.R........... 125,787
Assumed salvage and subrogation recoverable from C.A.R.... (20, 695)
Total voluntary and assumed unpaid loss and LAE reserves 590,334
Adjustment for ceded unpaid loss and LAE reserves......... 100,290
Adjustment for ceded salvage and subrogation recoverable.. (9,000)
Total unpaid loss and LAE reServVeS......eueeeeeeeenennnnns $681, 624

The primary sources of the Company's liquidity are funds generated
from insurance premiums, net investment income, premium finance and service
fees and the maturing and sale of investments as reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows on pages 38 and 39. The discussion
of these items can be found under "Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to
Year Ended December 31, 2000", herein.

The

Company's operating activities provided cash of $106,172 in 2001,

as compared to $147,906 in 2000, representing a decrease of $41,734 or
28.2% in
in premiums collected was outpaced by the increase in losses and LAE paid.
Federal income tax payments increased $10,439 or 35.7% in 2001. Of the
$39,703 in federal tax payments in 2001, $13,985 related to 2000, due to
significant income in the fourth quarter of 2000. Net investment income
received and premium and service fees received increased 8.9% and 17.0%,
respectively.
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For

$35,199,
$45,226 in 2000. The majority of the $80,425 difference was a $54,142
decrease in purchases of fixed maturities, a $38,824 decrease in the
purchase of preferred stock mutual funds, a $5,164 increase from proceeds
from sale of equity securities, a $3,811 decrease in purchases of other

assets,

2000. The primary reason for this decrease is that the increase

2001 net cash flows from investing activities provided cash of
as compared to net cash flows used in investing activities of

and a $4,974 increase in proceeds from maturity of fixed

maturities. These were offset by a $12,787 increase in the purchase of
equity securities coupled with a $6,790 increase in the purchase of
property and equipment. Investing activities were funded by accumulated
cash and cash provided by operating activities in 2001 and 2000. The
decreased purchases of longer term investments coupled with the significant
increase in cash and cash equivalents were primarily the result of the low
interest rate environment in 2001.

31,

During 2001, Commerce purchased a 160,000 square foot building. Costs
for this building including the land and improvements to date at December

2001,

are $4,932. The Company anticipates expending an additional $13

million renovating this building, primarily in 2002.

Cash flows used in financing activities totaled $63,262 during 2001

31, 2001 and
2000
$544,585
(65,505)
127,631
(20,844)
585,867

97,273
(9,000)

$674,140
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compared to $54,694 during 2000. The 2001 cash flows used in financing
activities consisted of $39,951 in dividends paid to stockholders and
$23,311 used to purchase 622,900 shares of Treasury Stock. The 2000 cash
flows used in financing activities consisted of $39,201 in dividends paid
to stockholders and $15,493 used to purchase 606,200 shares of Treasury
Stock.

The Company's funds are generally invested in securities with
maturities intended to provide adequate funds to pay claims without the
forced sale of investments. The carrying value (at market and equity) of
total investments at December 31, 2001 was $1,498,201. At December 31,
2001, the Company held cash and cash equivalents of $148,630. These funds
provide sufficient liquidity for the payment of claims and other short-term
cash needs. The Company continues to monitor interest rates on long-term
securities and intends to maintain its high cash position until such time
as the Company believes long-term rates have appropriately firmed. The
Company also relies upon dividends from its subsidiaries for its cash
requirements. Every Massachusetts insurance company seeking to make any
dividend or other distributions to its stockholders may, within certain
limitations, pay such dividends and then file a report with the
Commissioner. Dividends in excess of these limitations are called
extraordinary dividends. An extraordinary dividend is any dividend or
other property, whose fair value together with other dividends or
distributions made within the preceding twelve months exceeds the greater
of ten percent of the insurer's surplus as regards to policyholders as of
the end of the preceding year, or the net income of a non-life insurance
company for the preceding year. No pro-rata distribution of any class of
the insurer's own securities is to be included. No Massachusetts insurance
company shall pay an extraordinary dividend or other extraordinary
distribution until thirty days after the Commissioner has received notice
of the intended distribution and has not objected. ©No extraordinary
dividends were paid in 2001, 2000 or 1999. Similar laws exist in
California and Ohio. No extraordinary dividend was paid by American
Commerce in 2001 or 2000 and no dividends were paid by Commerce West since
its acquisition.

Periodically, sales have been made from the Company's fixed maturity
investment port-folio to actively manage portfolio risks, including credit-
related concerns, to optimize tax planning and to realize gains. This
practice will continue in the future.

Industry and regulatory guidelines suggest that the ratio of a
property and casualty insurer's annual net premiums written to statutory
policyholders' surplus should not exceed 3.00 to 1.00. The Company's
statutory premiums to surplus ratio was 1.51 to 1.00, 1.53 to 1.00, and
1.76 to 1.00 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.
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In early 1999, Commerce, invested $90,800 in the joint venture (ACIC
Holding Co., Inc.) to fund the American Commerce acquisition and to
capitalize the joint venture that is owned together with AAA SNE. Of this
$90,800, Commerce invested $90,000 in the form of preferred stock and an
additional $800 representing its 80% common stock ownership. The terms of
the preferred stock call for quarterly cash dividends at the rate of 10%
per annum. In the event cash dividends cannot be paid, additional
preferred stock will be issued. AAA SNE invested $200 representing its 20%
common stock ownership. Commerce consolidates ACIC Holding Co., Inc. and
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its wholly-owned subsidiary, American Commerce, for financial reporting and
tax purposes. Since 1995, Commerce has maintained an affinity group
marketing relationship with AAA Insurance Agency, Inc., a subsidiary of AAA
SNE. AAA Insurance Agency, Inc. has been an agent of Commerce since 1985.

In addition to the real estate commitment mentioned earlier, Commerce
has commitments in two venture capital fund investments. These investments
are made in limited partnerships and the Company's exposure to loss is
limited to its actual investment.

In 2000, Commerce entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement with
Conning Partners VI, L.P., a Delaware Limited Partnership. This
partnership agreement required a commitment by the Company to invest up to
$50,000 into the partnership. To date the Company has invested $15,091
into the partnership leaving a balance for funds still committed but not
paid into the partnership of $34,909. The partnership was formed to
operate as an investment fund principally for the purpose of making
investments primarily in equity, equity-related and other securities issued
in expansion financing, start-ups, buy-outs and recapitalization
transactions relating to companies in the areas of insurance, financial
services, e-commerce, healthcare, and related businesses, including,
without limitation, service and technology enterprises supporting such
businesses, in order to realize long-term capital returns, all as
determined and managed by the General Partner for the benefit of the
Partners.

Also in 2000, Commerce entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement
with Distribution Partners Investment Capital, L.P. a Delaware Limited
Partnership. This partnership agreement required a commitment by the
Company to invest up to $3,500 into the partnership. To date the Company
has invested $2,258 into the partnership leaving a balance of $1,242 for
funds still committed. The partnership was formed to operate as an
investment fund principally for the purpose of making investments primarily
in equity and equity-related securities of companies operating in the area
of insurance distribution and distribution related activities, all as
determined and managed by the General Partner for the benefit of the
Partners.

Market Risk: Interest Rate Sensitivity and Equity Price Risk

The Company's investment strategy emphasizes investment yield while
maintaining investment quality. The Company's investment objective
continues to focus on maximizing after-tax investment income through
investing in high quality diversified investments structured to maximize
after-tax investment income while minimizing risk. The Company's funds are
generally invested in securities with maturities intended to provide
adequate funds to pay claims and meet other operating needs without the
forced sale of investments. Periodically, sales have been made from the
Company's fixed maturity portfolio to actively manage portfolio risks,
including credit-related concerns, to optimize tax planning and to realize
gains. This practice will continue in the future.

In conducting investing activities, the Company is subject to, and
assumes, market risk. Market risk is the risk of an adverse financial
impact from changes in interest rates and market prices. The level of risk
assumed by the Company is a function of the Company's overall objectives,
liquidity needs and market volatility.

The Company manages its market risk by focusing on higher quality
equity and fixed income investments, by periodically monitoring the credit
strength of companies in which investments are made, by limiting exposure
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in any one investment and by monitoring the quality of the investment
portfolio by taking into account credit ratings assigned by recognized
rating organizations. Although the Company has significant holdings of
various closed-end preferred stock mutual funds, these funds are comprised
primarily of preferred stocks traded on national stock exchanges, thus
limiting exposure to any one investment.
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As part of its investing activities, the Company assumes positions in
fixed maturity, equity, short-term and cash equivalents markets. The
Company is, therefore, exposed to the impacts of interest rate changes in
the market value of investments. At December 31, 2001, the Company's
exposure to interest rate changes and equity price risk has been estimated
using sensitivity analysis. The interest rate impact is defined as the
effect of a hypothetical interest rate change of plus-or-minus 200 basis
points on the market value of fixed maturities and preferred stocks. The
equity price risk is defined as a hypothetical change of plus-or-minus 10%
in the fair value of common stocks. Changes in interest rates would result
in unrealized gains or losses in the market value of the fixed maturity and
preferred stock portfolio due to differences between current market rates
and the stated rates for these investments. Based on the results of the
sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2001, the Company's estimated market
exposure for a 200 basis point increase (decrease) in interest rates was
calculated. A 200 basis point increase results in an $83,611 decrease in
the market value of the fixed maturities and preferred stocks. A 200 basis
point decrease results in a $47,436 increase in the market value of the
same securities. The equity price risk impact at December 31, 2001, based
upon a 10% increase in the fair value of common stocks and preferred stock
mutual funds, would be an increase of $10,746 and $31,567, respectively.
Based upon a 10% decrease, common stocks and preferred stock mutual funds
would decrease $10,746 and $31,567, respectively. Long-term interest rates
(30-year Treasury Bond) increased slightly to 5.47% at December 31, 2001
from 5.46% at December 31, 2000. The preceding sensitivity analysis does
not represent a forecast and should not be relied upon as being indicative
of expected operating results. These hypothetical estimates are based upon
numerous assumptions such as the nature and timing of interest rate levels
including the yield curve shape, prepayments on loans and securities,
reinvestment and replacement of asset and liability cash flows and others.
While assumptions are developed based upon current economic conditions, the
Company cannot provide any assurance as to the predictive nature of these
assumptions. Also, as market conditions vary from those assumed in the
sensitivity analysis, actual results will also differ due to prepayment and
refinancing levels likely deviating from those assumed and other internal
and external variables. Furthermore, the sensitivity analysis does not
reflect actions that management might take in responding to or anticipating
changes in interest rates.

Recent Accounting Developments

The NAIC revised the Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual in a
process referred to as Codification. The revised manual became effective
January 1, 2001 for all insurance companies. The domiciliary states of the
Company's insurance subsidiaries have adopted the provisions of the revised
manual. The revised manual has changed certain prescribed statutory
accounting practices and has resulted in changes to the accounting
practices that the Company's insurance subsidiaries use to prepare their
statutory-basis financial statements. The impact of these changes to the
Company's insurance subsidiaries statutory-basis capital and surplus as of
January 1, 2001 had a significant beneficial effect of approximately
$38,737 primarily due to the inclusion of deferred taxes as an admitted

36



Edgar Filing: COMMERCE GROUP INC /MA - Form ARS

asset. The codification changes had no impact on the Company's GAAP
financial statements.

In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133 ("SFAS 133"), "Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities", as amended in June 2000 by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138 ("SFAS 138"), "Accounting for
Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities", which
requires companies to recognize all derivatives as either assets or
liabilities in the balance sheet and measure such instruments at fair
value. SFAS 138 also amended Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 137 ("SFAS 137"), "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities - Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133".
The provisions of SFAS 133 require adoption for fiscal year beginning after
June 15, 2000. The Company had no derivative or hedging activity in 2001,
2000, or 1999. The adoption of these FASBs had no material impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In September 2000, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 140 ("SFAS 140"), "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities", which replaced
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 125 ("SFAS 125"),
"Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and

Extinguishments of Liabilities". The Statement provides accounting and
reporting standards for transfers and servicing of financial assets and
extinguishments of liabilities. Those standards are based on consistent

application of a "financial components" approach that focuses on control.
Under that approach, after a transfer of financial assets, a company
recognizes the financial and servicing assets it controls and the
liabilities it has
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incurred, does not recognize financial assets when control has been
surrendered, and does not recognize liabilities when extinguished. The
Statement provides consistent standards for distinguishing transfers of
financial assets that are sales from transfers that are secured borrowings.
The Statement is effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets
and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after March 31, 2001.
Adoption of SFAS 140 did not have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

In July 2001, the FASB issued Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141, "Business Combinations", and No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets". SFAS No. 141, effective for business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, requires that all business
combinations be accounted for under a single method - the purchase method.
Use of the pooling-of-interests method is no longer permitted. SFAS No.
141 also clarifies the criteria to recognize intangible assets separately
from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets
deemed to have indefinite lives no longer be amortized to earnings, but
instead be reviewed at least annually for impairment. Other intangible
assets will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No. 142
will be effective January 1, 2002.

The Company has evaluated the impact of adopting the provisions of
SFAS No. 142 on earnings and financial position for the year ended December
31, 2002. Effective January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, the
Company will cease amortizing the balance sheet item "excess of book value
of subsidiary interest over cost" which is $5.7 million at year end 2001.
The 2001 impact of the amortization of this resulted in approximately $0.10
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per share of annual operating earnings. Additionally, the Company will no
longer amortize the negative goodwill resulting from the purchase of
preferred stock mutual funds effective January 1, 2002. The amount of
unamortized negative goodwill at year-end is $6.4 million. The 2001 impact
of the amortization of this was $0.10 per share of earnings classified as
capital gains. Both the excess of book value of subsidiary interest over
cost and the negative goodwill on preferred stock mutual funds will be
recognized as income in the first quarter of 2002 and classified as an
extraordinary item. The estimated per share income impact of this change
is $0.34 per share.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following accounting
policies, which are derived based on management's Jjudgments and estimates,
are considered critical to the preparation of the Company's financial
statements.

1. Investments

The focus of management's judgments and estimates relating to
investments involves the potential impairment of investments for other than
temporary declines in market values. The carrying value of investments in
fixed maturities, which include taxable and non-taxable bonds, and
investments in common and preferred stocks, are derived from market prices
supplied by the Company's investment custodian. Unrealized investment
gains and losses on common and preferred stocks and fixed maturities, to
the extent that there is no other than temporary impairment of value, are
credited or charged to a separate component of stockholders' equity, known
as "net accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)", until realized, net
of any tax effect. An impairment in an investment is deemed to be other
than temporary, when a security's market value has diminished to less than
75% of cost for two consecutive quarters. If the security is deemed
impaired the Company adjusts the securities cost to market value through
realized loss based on publicly available prices or, in the absence of
such, to a value based on cash flow modeling. During 2001, the Company
wrote down $2,665 in bonds and preferred stock investments with impairment
as determined by management to be other than temporary. Given the makeup
and quality of the Company's investments, management does not believe that
a more stringent policy would have a material effect on the carrying value
of its investments.
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2. Unpaid Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses ("LAE")

Unpaid Loss and LAE by their nature are inherently uncertain as to the
ultimate outcome of the estimated amounts. The liability for unpaid losses
and LAE represents Management's best estimate of the ultimate net cost of
all losses and LAE incurred through the balance sheet date. The estimate
for ultimate net cost of all losses incurred through the balance sheet date
includes the adjusted case estimates for losses, incurred but not reported
("IBNR") losses, salvage and subrogation recoverable and a reserve for LAE.
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In arriving at its best estimate, management begins with the aggregate of
individual case reserves and then makes adjustments to these amounts on a
line of business basis. These adjustments to the aggregate case reserves
by line of business are made based on analysis performed by Management as
further described below. The entire liability for unpaid losses and LAE is
also reviewed quarterly and annually by the Company's Actuarial Department.
Liability estimates are continually analyzed and updated, and therefore,
the ultimate liability may be more or less than the current estimate. The
effects of changes in the estimates are included in the results of
operations in the period in which the estimates are revised.

The claim cycle begins when a claim is reported to the Company and
claims personnel establish a "case reserve" for the estimated amount of the
ultimate exposure to the Company. The amount of the reserve is primarily
based upon an evaluation of the type of claim involved, the circumstances
surrounding the claim and the policy provisions relating to the loss. This
estimate reflects the informed judgment of such personnel based on general
insurance reserving practices and on the experience and knowledge of the
claims personnel adjusting the claim. During the loss adjustment period,
these case basis estimates are revised as deemed necessary by the Company's
claims department personnel based on subsequent developments and periodic
reviews of the claim.

In accordance with industry practice, the Company also maintains
reserves for estimated IBNR, salvage and subrogation recoverable and LAE.
These reserves are determined on the basis of historical information and
the experience of the Company. Adjustments to these reserves are made
periodically to take into account changes in the volume of business
written, claims frequency and severity, the mix of business, claims
processing and other items that can be expected to affect the Company's
liability for losses and LAE over time.

When reviewing the liability for unpaid losses and LAE, the Company
analyzes historical data and estimates the impact of various factors such
as: (1) payment trends; (i1ii) loss expense per exposure; (iii) the
historical loss experience of the Company and industry; (iv) frequency and
severity trends; and, (v) legislative enactments, judicial decisions, legal
developments in the imposition of damages, changes and trends in general
economic conditions, including the effects of inflation and recession.
This process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the effects of
current developments and anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for
predicting future events. There is no precise method, however, for
subsequently evaluating the impact of any specific factor on the adequacy
of reserves, because the eventual development of reserves is affected by
many factors.

By using individual estimates of reported claims adjusted for
managements best estimate by line of business and generally accepted
actuarial reserving techniques, the Company estimates the ultimate net
liability for losses and LAE. After taking into account all relevant
factors, management believes that, based on existing information, the
provision for losses and LAE at December 31, 2001 is adequate to cover the
ultimate net cost of losses and claims incurred as of that date. The
ultimate liability, however, may be greater or lower than established
reserves. If the ultimate exposure is greater than (or less than)
management's estimated liability for losses and LAE, based on any of the
factors noted previously, the Company will incur additional expense
(income) which may have a material impact.

Forward - Looking Statements

This annual report contains some statements that are not historical
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facts and are considered "forward-looking statements" as defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking
statements involve opinions, assumptions and predictions, and no assurance
can be given that the future results will be achieved since events or
results may differ materially as a result of risks facing the Company.
These include, but are not limited to, those risks and uncertainties in our
business, some of which are beyond the control of the Company, that are
described in the Company's Forms 10-K and 10-Q, Schedules 13D and 13G, and
other documents filed with the SEC, including the
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possibility of adverse catastrophe experience and severe weather, adverse
trends in claim severity or frequency, adverse state and federal regulation
and legislation, adverse state judicial decisions, litigation risks,
interest rate risk, rate making decisions for private passenger automobile
policies in Massachusetts, potential rate filings outside of Massachusetts,
adverse impacts related to consolidation activities, heightened
competition, as well as the economic, market or regulatory conditions and
risks associated with entry into new markets and diversification.

Effects of Inflation and Recession

The Company generally is unable to recover the costs of inflation in
its personal automobile insurance line since the premiums it charges are
subject to state regulation. Additionally, the premium rates charged by
the Company for personal automobile insurance are adjusted by the
Commissioner only at annual intervals. Such annual adjustments in premium
rates may lag behind related cost increases. Economic recessions can have
an impact upon the Company, primarily through the policyholder's election
to decrease non-compulsory coverages afforded by the policy and increased
driving, each of which tends to decrease claims.

To the extent inflation and economic recession influence yields on
investments, the Company is also affected. As each of these environments
affect current market rates of return, previously committed investments may
rise or decline in value depending on the type and maturity of investment.

Inflation and recession must also be considered by the Company in the
creation and review of loss and LAE reserves since portions of these
reserves are expected to be paid over extended periods of time. The
anticipated effect of economic conditions is implicitly considered when
estimating liabilities for losses and LAE. The importance of continually
adjusting reserves 1is even more pronounced in periods of changing economic
circumstances.

COMMON STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION

The Company's common stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol "CGI". The high, low
and close prices for shares, as quoted in The Boston Globe, of the Company's Common Stock
for 2001 and 2000 were as follows:

2001 2000
High Low Close High Low Close
First Quarter...... $32.1000 $24.5500 $32.0000 $31.0000 $23.0000 $29.5000
Second Quarter..... 36.9900 30.7500 36.7900 30.8750 26.1250 29.5000
Third Quarter...... 38.3500 33.5500 38.0000 29.4375 25.0625 28.9375
Fourth Quarter..... 40.3500 35.8000 37.6900 29.2500 22.8750 27.1800
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As of March 1, 2002, there were 1,053 stockholders of record of the
Company's Common Stock, not including stock held in "Street Name" or held
in accounts for participants of the Company's Employee Stock Ownership Plan
("E.S.O0.P.").

The Board of Directors of the Company voted to declare four quarterly
dividends to stockholders of record totaling $1.19 per share and $1.15 per
share in 2001 and 2000, respectively. On May 19, 2001, the Board voted to
increase the quarterly stockholder dividend from $0.29 to $0.30 per share
to stockholders of record as of June 4, 2001. Prior to that declaration,
the Company had paid quarterly dividends of $0.29 per share dating back to
May 15, 2000 when the Board voted to increase the dividend from $0.28 to
$0.29 per share.

In May 1999, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a stock
buy-back program of up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company.
At December 31, 2001, there are 273,700 shares of common stock authorized
to be purchased under this program. In November 2001, the Board of
Directors approved another stock buy-back program authorizing the purchase
of up to an additional 2,000,000 shares. During the period from January 1,
2001 through December 31, 2001, the Company purchased 622,900 shares of its
own common stock. During 2000, the Company purchased 606,200 shares of its
own common stock under the May 1999 buy-back program. At December 31,
2001, the Company had authority to purchase a total of 2,273,700 additional
shares of its common stock under the May 1999 and November 2001 buy-back
programs. As of December 31, 2001, the Company holds a total of 4,869,548
shares of treasury stock.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The management of the Company is responsible for the consolidated
financial statements and all other information presented in this Annual
Report. The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States determined by
management to be appropriate in the circumstances and include amounts based
on management's informed estimates and judgments. Financial information
presented e